0/4 5-26-88 SID J. WHITE IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA MAR 1988 CLERK, SUPMEME COURT By RANDALL SCOTT BLACKSHEAR, Petitioner, Deputy Clerk CASE NO. 71,440 v. STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR #197890 POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the appellant in the lower tribunal and the defendant in the trial court. The parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court. A one volume record on appeal will be referred to as "R", followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. A one volume transcript will be referred to as "T".

Attached hereto as appendix A is the opinion of the lower tribunal, in petitioner's first appeal, which has been reported as Blackshear v. State, 480 So.2d 207 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

Attached hereto as appendix B is the opinion of the lower tribunal, the subject of the instant proceeding, which has been reported as <u>Blackshear v. State</u>, 513 So.2d 174 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By amended information filed February 7, 1984, petitioner was charged with sexual battery with use of a deadly weapon and armed kidnapping, the crimes alleged to have occurred on December 3, 1983 (R 6-7). On March 8, 1984, petitioner entered pleas of guilty to both charges. 480 So.2d at 208. Petitioner's counsel then suggested that petitioner was incompetent to be sentenced, relying upon a psychiatric evaluation from 1978, when petitioner was a juvenile. Id. Two psychiatrists were appointed, and on May 3, 1984, petitioner was found to be incompetent to be sentenced and committed to the state hospital. Id.

On August 15, 1984, the forensic administrator at the state hospital certified that petitioner was competent. Id. On November 19, 1984, psychiatrist Ernest C. Miller, M.D., found that petitioner was competent to be sentenced, although he suffered from: "a mild perceptual motor impairment, a behavioral disorder, diffuse brain damage", and mental retardation. Id. The court declared petitioner competent to be sentenced and imposed concurrent terms of 65 years in prison. Id. at 209; R 8-16.

On appeal, the lower tribunal reversed these sentences:

With regard to the second point presented for review, i.e., the two concurrent 65-year sentences, Blackshear contends and the state agrees that the sentences are improper because they are not within the parameters provided by statute. Blackshear pled guilty to a violation of Section 794.011(3),

Florida Statutes, and Section 787.01, Florida Statutes. Both crimes are categorized as life felonies, punishable as provided in Section 775.082(3)(a), Florida Statutes, which states in part that a person convicted of a life felony "committed on or after October 1, 1983, [may be punished] by a term of imprisonment for life or by a term of imprisonment not exceeding 40 years," (emphasis supplied). We find, therefore, that the trial court has imposed an illegal sentence, and we reverse and remand the concurrent 65-year sentences for imposition of a sentence that comports with the law.

Blackshear v. State, 480 So.2d at 209-10; footnote omitted.

Petitioner was returned to Duval County for resentencing on January 30, 1986 (R 24-25). On February 11, 1986, the court ordered petitioner examined again to determine if he was competent to be resentenced (R 29-30). Psychiatrist Miller found that he was not (R 31-32). On February 24, 1986, petitioner was again committed to the state hospital (R 33-34). He was medicinally restored to competency again and returned to Jacksonville for resentencing on June 20, 1986 (R 37-41).

This time Dr. Miller found petitioner competent, although still suffering from organic brain damage (R 42-46). The court judicially restored his competency at a hearing on July 8, 1986 (R 47; T 3-6).

The prosecutor argued for a departure sentence of either 40 years or life (T 6). Petitioner's counsel argued in mitigation and asked for a guidelines sentence of 12-17 years, on the basis of petitioner's long-standing mental condition, and presented the testimony of petitioner's mother and grandmother (T 7-15). Counsel noted that petitioner became involved in the

system at age 14 and was 19 when sentenced for the instant offenses (T 17). The court imposed concurrent life sentences, as a departure from the 12-17 year range (R 48-54; T 18), and adopted its original reasons for departure again:

> The Defendant has a history of violence in his home. His sister and grandmother testified that he has been violent and fought members of his family most of his life.

The Defendant turned 18 years old in August 1982. From that time and before December 6, 1983 when he was arrested for the instant offenses, the Defendant had been arrested more than eight times. While these arrests were for misdemeanor offenses, the arrests revealed a violent nature in the community. Many of the arrests were for battery and for making threats. There were also arrests for disorderly intoxication and trespassing after warning.

The violent nature of the Defendant as revealed in his home life and in his short adult life was further evidenced in the manner in which he committed the offense of Sexual Battery and Armed Kidnapping. The Defendant was not content to force himself upon the victim sexually or to kidnap her by threatening to use a box He violently and viciously beat cutter. the victim about the face and head. He verbally degraded her in the manner of his insistance that she serve him sexually. He created in the victim a terror that has in effect incarcerated her for the remainder of her life in a prison of fear. She is no longer able to work alone, and she has expressed a sense of uncontrollable fear when she is in the presence of men. The victim indicated that she was psychologically traumatized to the extent that she would have had a nervous breakdown were it not for the support of loving and caring family and The Defendant's violent nature friends. would make him a constant threat to the community wherein he may be at large. There is no evidence that the Defendant will ever be anything but violent. Although the Defendant has organic brain damage and is

borderline retarded, there is nothing to indicate he should not be sentenced.

(R 55-56).

In his second appeal to the lower tribunal, petitioner argued that his two life sentences constituted a violations of due process, since he had been sentenced to only 65 years initially. The lower tribunal found no due process violation and affirmed on this point. 513 So.2d at 177-78.

Petitioner also argued that the reasons for departure were invalid. The lower tribunal treated the departure order as stating two separate reasons: "(1) the violent nature of the defendant; and (2) the psychological trauma inflicted upon the victim by the defendant." Id. at 176. The lower tribunal found reason 1 to be valid, reason 2 to be invalid, and remanded for resentencing. Id. at 176-77.

This timely discretionary review follows.

- SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner will make three arguments in this brief, each attacking his life sentences. In the first, he will argue that he was illegally penalized for exercising his right to appeal by receiving life sentences after his original 65 year sentences were reversed on appeal. The lower tribunal failed to recognize that the judge could have imposed a term of years to equal 65 years, and was not required to impose life sentences.

Petitioner will also argue that his life sentences, which constitute a departure from the recommended guidelines range, are not supported by clear and convincing reasons. The reasons given relate to either petitioner's criminal history, already scored on the scoresheet, his past arrest record, for which no convictions were entered, and a prediction by the sentencing judge that petitioner will commit more crimes. All of these reasons are invalid.

Petitioner will also attack the length of his departure sentences, because they are excessive for the crimes for which he was sentenced.

The proper remedy is to vacate the sentences and remand for resentencing, either to 65 years, or the guidelines range, or somewhere in between.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE LOWER TRIBUNAL ERRED IN FINDING THAT PETITIONER'S LIFE SENTENCES DID NOT VIOLATE DUE PROCESS WHERE HE ORIGINALLY RECEIVED 65 YEAR SENTENCES.

Petitioner originally received two concurrent 65 year sentences, which were vacated because they did not conform to the statute establishing the punishment for life felonies as a term of years not exceeding 40 or life in prison. Section 775.082(3)(a), Florida Statutes. <u>Blackshear v. State</u>, 480 So.2d at 209. When petitioner received two life sentences upon resentencing, he argued that his constitutional right to due process had been violated because he had been penalized for exercising his right to appeal, on authority of <u>North Carolina</u> <u>v. Pearce</u>, 395 U.S. 711 (1969). The lower tribunal disagreed:

> At first blush, it would appear that the appellant's point is well taken since it would seem that there was no conduct or event that occurred subsequent to the original sentencing proceeding which would justify a sentence greater than that which was originally imposed. But that is, of course, not possible in the instant case because the trial court in the original sentencing had imposed a sentence of a term of years which exceeded by 25 years the 40-year statutory maximum. On reversal and remand after the first appeal, obviously the trial judge could not, as he could in the typical Pearce situation, impose the same sentence as before. Why is it not logical to assume based on the facts before us that the trial judge -being precluded from imposing a term of years sufficient to meet what he had earlier determined to be the ends of justice in this case -- imposed the only

other sentence available under the statute, life imprisonment?

513 So.2d at 177-78; footnotes omitted; emphasis added. Petitioner disputes this conclusion.

First, neither petitioner's counsel nor the prosecutor, as implied in footnote 5 of the lower court's opinion,¹ "assumed that the trial court was free to impose a life term":

MRS. STARRETT: Judge, it could be anything up to 40 years. MRS. ALLEN-TUNSIL: And I think it was a sentence up to 40 years but not beyond.

(T 17-18).

Second, the lower tribunal's initial assumption -- that a life sentence was the only sentence available -- was incorrect, because it failed to consider that the resentencing judge could fashion a sentence not to exceed his original decision that a 65 year sentence for both of these crimes was appropriate. There would be nothing to prevent the judge from giving petitioner a 40 year sentence for one life felony, and a consecutive 25 year sentence for the other, or 32 1/2 years on each, to run consecutively, or any number of combinations, the total of which is 65 years.

¹In fact, it is apparent from the transcript of the resentencing hearing that the defense attorney also assumed that the trial court was free to impose a life term. 513 So.2d at 177.

Third, because the lower tribunal's initial assumption was incorrect, it followed that no presumption of judicial vindic-tiveness occurred. Petitioner disagrees.

In <u>Pearce</u>, the Supreme Court held that a defendant may not be resentenced to a greater term of years following a successful defense appeal, and that a <u>rebuttable</u> presumption of vindictiveness is raised by a greater sentence, which may be overcome if the judge sets forth reasons for the increased sentence. Fifteen years later, the Court in <u>Wasman v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 468 U.S. 559 (1984), held that the increased sentence may be justified by events occurring subsequent to the original sentence.

If the lower tribunal had not been operating upon a faulty beginning premise, its logic would have resulted in finding a <u>Pearce conclusive</u> presumption, since the second sentence is, on its face, more severe than the first, and since the judge said nothing to justify it. The only intervening event to rebut the presumption is the opinion in Petitioner's first appeal, which remanded only; "for imposition of a sentence that conforms with the law." 480 So.2d at 210.

Even if <u>Pearce</u> is not applicable to the instant situation, petitioner's sentences are still impermissible under decisions from this Court which discuss how to correct an illegal sentence after the defendant successfully challenges it.

After this Court decided in <u>Villery v. Florida Parole and</u> <u>Probation Commission</u>, 396 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 1981) that a split sentence of more than one year incarceration as a condition of

probation was illegal, many inmates filed motions to vacate their sentences. When they succeeded, some, much to their dismay, received prison sentences equal to their original probation period, and claimed a <u>Pearce</u> violation. This Court ultimately held that no <u>Pearce</u> violation occurs when the new sentence is: "no longer than the original combined term of incarceration and prison." <u>Beech v. State</u>, 436 So.2d 82, 84 (Fla. 1983). Accord: <u>Forbert v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 1983).

The application of <u>Beech</u> to petitioner's dilemma is obvious. Petitioner's total sentence after resentencing should not exceed the 65 years he originally received.

Likewise, in <u>Herring v. State</u>, 411 So.2d 966 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1966), the defendant successfully attacked sentences which were illegal because they exceeded the statutory maximum. His original aggregate sentence was a net 10 years, but upon resentencing, received more. The court found that he could be resentenced to no more than a total of 10 years without running afoul of <u>Pearce</u>. However, if he received more than a net sentence of 10 years, the judge would have to justify it. See also <u>Smith v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1978).

Thus petitioner's life sentences constitute a <u>Pearce</u> violation. They must be vacated so that the sentencing judge may fashion a combination of terms of years not exceeding 40, but less than a total of 65 years.

ISSUE II

THE LOWER TRIBUNAL ERRED IN APPROVING PETITIONER'S "VIOLENT NATURE" AS A REASON FOR DEPARTURE BECAUSE IT IS BASED UPON PRIOR ARRESTS WITHOUT CONVICTION AND UPON THE INSTANT OFFENSES AND UPON SPECULATION THAT FUTURE CRIMES WILL BE COMMITTED.

A. Prior Arrests

In its opinion, the lower tribunal found one of the two reasons for departure, "the violent nature of the defendant", to be valid, because petitioner's "violent character was not based upon past convictions alone." 513 So.2d at 176.

If it was not based upon petitioner's prior convictions, then what else is there in the record from which the lower tribunal could derive a finding of violence? The answer is found in the language used by the sentencing judge:

> The Defendant has a history of violence in his home. His sister and grandmother testified that he has been violent and fought family members of his family most of his life.

The defendant turned 18 years old in August 1982. From that time and before December 6, 1983 when he was arrested for the instant offenses, the Defendant had been <u>arrested</u> more than eight times. While these <u>arrests</u> were for misdemeanor offenses, the <u>arrests</u> revealed a violent nature in the community. Many of the <u>arrests</u> were for battery and for making threats. There were also <u>arrests</u> for disorderly intoxication and trespassing after warning. (R 55; emphasis added.

Thus, it appears that one source of the finding of violence is the prior arrests mentioned above. The courts of this state have ruled on many occasions that prior arrests, without conviction, are absolutely prohibited as reasons for departure.

See, e.g., Weems v. State, 469 So.2d 128 (Fla. 1985); Sellers v. State, 499 So.2d 43 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Aleman v. State, 498 So.2d 967 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986); Hendsbee v. State, 497 So.2d 718 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986); Henderson v. State, 496 So.2d 965 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Bass v. State, 496 So.2d 880 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986); Dowling v. State, 495 So.2d 874 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986); Reid v. State, 488 So.2d 913 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986); Fabelo v. State, 488 So.2d 915 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986); Middleton v. State, 489 So.2d 201 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986); and Mack v. State, 489 So.2d 205 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986).

Moreover, this principle was embodied in the guidelines rule from its inception. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701(d)(11). The dangers of inserting arrests without conviction into the sentencing mix were stated in the ABA Standards on Criminal Justice, Sentencing Alternatives and Procedures, Std. 18-5.1(d)(ii)(B) (2d Ed. 1980), at 18.351 (footnotes omitted; emphasis added):

> First, the evidence is abundant that the majority of arrests do not result in convictions for any offense. Second, it is clear that arrests are made for reasons unrelated to any intent to commence a criminal prosecution: to settle family disputes, too create a "cooling-off" period, even to protect the subject of the arrest, and sometimes to punish the subject for a disrespectful attitude toward the police. Third, arrest data stored in centralized data banks tend to be incomplete because little effort appears to be made to determine the subsequent disposition of arrests. In this sense, arrest data are inherently unverified. Fourth, the pattern associated with "suspicion" arrests is particularly troubling, since the number of such arrest involving minority group

members, unsupported by probable cause, appears to be disproportionate. Fifth, arrest data supply a less distinctive portrait of the offender than may at first be imagined. Indeed, one study predicts that <u>50 percent of American males will</u> acquire a nontraffic arrest record at some point in their lives, and in the case of the black urban male the probability is as high as <u>90 percent</u>. Ultimately, whether one acquires an arrest record may depend as much on styles of police record keeping as on individual behavior.

[Footnotes omitted] Id. at 18.351.

The same day as the lower tribunal's opinion, this Court reaffirmed this principle in <u>Vantassell v. State</u>, 512 So.2d 181 (Fla. 1987), where, in reversing the lower tribunal's approval of a reason for departure in <u>Vantassell v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 649 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), this Court held: "The trial court may not punish him for other offenses for which there were no convictions and no charges. <u>State v. Tyner</u>, 506 So.2d 405 (Fla. 1987)." Vantassell, 512 So.2d at 183.

There are only five prior convictions listed on petitioner's sentencing guidelines scoresheet, one second degree felony and four misdemeanors (R 53). If petitioner was arrested eight times, and only five were scored as convictions, then three arrests did not result in convictions and cannot be used as reasons for departure.

B. The Instant Offenses

A second source of the finding of violent propensities may be in the further language used by the sentencing judge:

> The violent nature of the Defendant as revealed in his home life and in his short adult life was further evidenced by the

manner in which he committed the offense of Sexual Battery and Armed Kidnapping. (R 55).

If these conclusions were relied upon by the lower tribunal, as shown by the statement that: "the record in this case supports the court's conclusion regarding the defendant's violent propensities", 513 So.2d at 176, then it has made the same error as it did in <u>Vantassell</u>, supra. There the sexual battery defendant suffered a departure sentence because he had used excessive force against the victim, even though his scoresheet, like that of petitioner (R 53), <u>assessed points for only</u> penetration or slight injury. This Court reversed:

> The first reason, that excessive force resulted in the victim sustaining extensive physical injuries, it is invalid because the extent of victim injury was already calculated in the guidelines. <u>Vanover v.</u> <u>State</u>, 498 So.2d 899, 901 (Fla. 1986). Petitioner received forty points on his scoresheet for "penetration or slight injury" and points were not scored for serious injury. Factors already taken into account in calculating the guidelines score cannot support a departure sentence. <u>Hendrix v. State</u>, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985). Vantassell, 512 So.2d at 183.

Thus, the violence involved in the instant crimes cannot be used to support the judge's finding and the lower tribunal's approval of the "violent nature" as a reason for departure.²

C. Predictions

²After petitioner's decision, another panel of the First District "reluctantly concluded" that "an ongoing history of violence" was an invalid reason for departure. <u>Mooney v.</u> <u>State</u>, 516 So.2d 333 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

As a final attempt to justify his departure sentence, the judge said:

The Defendant's violent nature would make him a constant threat to the community wherein he may be at large. There is no evidence that the Defendant will ever be anything but violent. Although the Defendant has organic brain damage and is borderline retarded, there is nothing to indicate he should not be sentenced. (R 56).³

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