0/a 5-26-88

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RANDALL SCOTT BLACKSHEAR,

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I

No <u>Pearce</u> presumption arose when the trial court imposed a life sentence on remand because: there was no showing the penalty was harsher; no showing that the resentencing departed from the trial court's initial sentencing plan, no showing that the court increased the sentence more than the minimum amount to make the sentence legal, and most of all, no showing of judicial vindictiveness.

Issue II

The violent behavior pattern of the Petitioner is a proper ground for departure as it was based on testimonial evidence of his violent actions at home and in school; and demonstrated by his behavior which resulted in his being convicted of crimes, sent to juvenile facilities, and placed in mental hospitals.

Issue III

The Petitioner has twice failed to raise this issue on direct appeal and thus, has waived it. If the court determines that review on the merits is appropriate, Petitioner has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion.

- 4 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

NO DUE PROCESS VIOLATION OCCURRED IN THE RESENTENCING OF THE APPELLANT.

There are two interrelated constitutional principles identified and discussed in <u>North Carolina v. Pearce</u>, 395 U.S. 711, 23 L.Ed.2d 656 (1969). Those are (1) double jeopardy, and (2) due process.

The court found in <u>Pearce</u> and subsequently reaffirmed that a more severe sentence after a retrial does not violate double jeopardy. In fact, the Court went to great lengths to clarify <u>Pearce</u> in <u>United States v. DiFrancesco</u>, 449 U.S. 117, 66 L.Ed.2d 328 (L980), when it reaffirmed the proposition that a sentence imposed which is less than the statutory maximum is <u>not</u> an implied acquittal of any greater sentence.

<u>Pearce</u> held that due process (not double jeopardy) required that a defendant being resentenced after a successful appeal and subsequent retrial, not be the victim of judicial <u>vindictiveness</u>.

Thus, in situations where a defendant is given a more severe sentence after a successful appeal, <u>Pearce</u> created a rebuttal presumption of vindictiveness. The United States Supreme Court said:

. . . we have concluded that whenever a judge imposes a more severe sentence

- 5 -

upon a defendant after a new trial, the reasons for his doing so must affirmatively appear. Those reasons must be based upon objective information concerning identifiable conduct on the part of the defendant occurring after the time of the original sentencing proceeding.

The Supreme Court has recognized in <u>Wasman v. United States</u>, 468 U.S. 559, 82 L.Ed.2d 424 (1984), that <u>Pearce</u> is not without its ambiguities." (82 L.Ed.2d at 434).

The Court also recognized that:

It it was not clear from the Court's holding in **Pearce**, it is clear from our subsequent cases applying **Pearce** that due process does not forbid enhanced sentences or charges but only enhanced sentences modivated by actual vindictiveness. 82 L.Ed.2d at 435.

As noted previously the United State Supreme Court, in <u>Wasman</u>, <u>supra</u>, identified several problems in applying <u>Pearce</u> because it contains conflicting language.

Problems identified by it and other Federal courts include:

(1) How to determine when sentences are more harsh.

(2) What to do with sentences which are part of an interlocking plan.

(3) What to do when it is impossible (illegal) to impose the exact same sentence.

- 6 -

In one case analogous to the case sub judice the United States Supreme Court, in <u>Bozza v. United States</u>, 330 U.S. 160, 91 L.Ed.2d 818 (1946), found that where the sentence was less than the statute required, resentencing was permissible even though resulting penalty was harsher.

The Federal Circuit Courts of Appeal have also had to deal with these problems of resentencing in various contexts. In <u>United States v. Busic</u>, 639 F.2d 940 (3d Cir. 1981), cert. denied 452 U.S. 918, it was found permissible to increase a penalty on re-sentencing when one count of an interdependent sentencing plan was vacated and where the sentencing judge's intentions were clear. The Court found the concerns of judicial vindictiveness simply did not exist. The Third Circuit continued to follow that interpretation in <u>United States v. Guevremont</u>, 829 F.2d 423 (3d Cir. 1987).

The case sub judice presents the same dilemma faced by the trial court in <u>United States v. Jefferson</u>, 760 F.2d 821 (7th Cir. 1985). In <u>Jefferson</u>, the trial judge's sentencing scheme involved a 30-year sentence consisting of a series of shorter terms strung together to amount to 30 years. The reason for this was the judge's desire to have a minimum period without eligibility for parole followed by parole eligible sentences. On remand from an appeal, which set aside certain convictions, the trial judge could not fashion an equal punishment. In solving

- 7 -

the dilemma, the court indicated that when faced with such a problem, no Pearce presumption arises when the court

"imposes the lowest of the possible sentences which is (are) consistent with giving the defendant the full sentence he intended to impose on (her) in the first place." Id. at 828.

Other federal circuits, in facing this problem, have resolved it in the same manner. In doing so, the Ninth Circuit in <u>United States v. Kenyon</u>, 519 F.2d 1229 (9th Cir. 1975) said

> Accordingly hold that if we the additional punishment imposed on corrective resentencing exceeds the minimum addition necessary to make the prior sentence valid the record must show that the court resentenced the defendant solely upon the facts of his case and his personal history . . . and not for asserting his legal rights. Id. a p. 1233.

In analyzing these cases involving resentencing and illegal sentences, two principles become clear and before a court applies an automatic presumption it has to:

(1) Look to the intent of the original sentencing judge. If his intent is clear and on resentencing he followed that initial plan, no <u>Pearce</u> presumption arise even if the sentence is harsher in some respects.

(2) If the original sentence was illegal or invalid, you examine the record to see if if was increased only enough to make

it legal. If that was the extent of increase, no <u>Pearce</u> presumption applies.

Like the Federal Court's, this Court has struggled with this problem. This Court noted in Villery v. Florida Parole and Probation Commission, 396 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 1981), cases which involve illegal sentences pose special problems. It is impossible for the court to impose the exact same sentences. It is often difficult to determine when a sentence is harsher. In Villery, this Court looked to the sentencing judge's original plan to determine whether to apply the Pearce presumption. If the new sentence was within the judge's original plan (in Villery the combined total years of incarceration and probation), no presumption applied. In Beech v. State, 436 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1983), the court followed the Villery approach. The District Courts have also looked to the sentencing intent of the trial court and approved increased sentences where such intent was clear. Cruz v. State, 458 So.2d 826 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984.

Applying these standards to this resentencing the trial court clearly did not penalize the defendant for asserting his right to appeal. All parties agreed that the court's choices were forty (40) years or life.¹ In his original sentencing, the trial court (apparently believing) that §775.082 (3). Florida Statutes, which authorized any term of years over thirty (30), was the applicable law, rejected all terms of years less than sixty five (65).

- 9 -

It is clear that in choosing to impose a sentence of sixtyfive (65) years under a guideline system with no parole, that the Appellant was sentenced to a term of years longer than his expected natural life. Therefore, on remand in imposing a life sentence, he did not impose a harsher sentence and in fact, may have imposed a lighter sentence because Appellant is now eligible under §944.30, Florida Statutes (1987) for clemency review.

However, if this Court were to find the sentence to be harsher; it was imposed to correct an illegal sentence, was within the judge's original sentencing intent, and did not exceed the minimum increase necessary to make the sentences legal. Therefore, no Pearce presumption arose.

Therefore, as the presumption of <u>Pearce</u> does not apply, the Appellant has not shown his sentence was harsher and no vindictiveness exists. This court should affirm.

¹Appellant now argues the trial court should have fashioned an esoteric mix of forty and twenty-five years consecutively imposed. Having failed to present the trial court with such an option, he has waived it. His argument does emphasize the State's point it its jurisdictional brief that the trial court be given all options prior to this Court accepting jurisdiction.

ISSUE II

THE APPELLANT'S VIOLENT NATURE WAS A PROPER GROUND FOR DEPARTURE.

As to the court's basis for departure, it is clear that the trial court was deeply concerned about the Petitioner's history of violence. Petitioner's argument on this point limits the court's findings to the violent nature of his criminal record and this is plainly far too narrow an interpretation.

In discussing Petitioner's violent nature, the trial court refers first to Petitioner's "history of violence in his home. His sister and grandmother testified that he has been violent and fought members of his family most of his life" (R 55). The court then refers to the Petitioner's prior "arrests" which reveal "a violent nature in the community" (R 55). Finally, the court found that the Petitioner's violent nature "as revealed in his home life and in his short adult life was further evidenced in the manner in which he committed the offense of Sexual Battery and Armed Kidnapping" in that in the course of committing these offenses he "violently and viciously beat the victim about the face and head" (R 55).

The violent theme of Petitioner's home life is certainly a factor the trial court could properly take into account as a basis for departure inasmuch as it reveals a clear inability on the part of the Petitioner to adapt to societal norms even in a sheltered environment. Moreover, the violent nature of

- 11 -

Petitioner's home life further supports the court's ultimate conclusion that "[t]here is no evidence that the Defendant will ever by anything but violent." (R 56). In fact, Appellant's oldest sister agreed that at home his fighting and his behavior was a never ending problem (SR pp. 121, 122) and his grandmother said his behavior had not changed (R p. 10) and he had been fighting in school (SR p. 123). The Court properly found the Appellant had a violent home life and early years.

As to the violent nature of Petitioner's prior record, the Petitioner, relying on <u>Hendrix v. State</u>, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985), simply contends that Petitioner's prior history of violence cannot be used as a basis for departure because his prior record has already been taken into account in arriving at his recommended guidelines sentence. Additionally, Petitioner asserts that if the court's findings as to prior violence relate to mere arrests or prior crimes for which no conviction was entered, they cannot be used as a reason for departure under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(11). (Appellant's brief at p. 11-13).

It is the State's response, first, that, although the trial court in its order used the word "arrests" in describing Petitioner's record, it is obvious from the court's statements at Petitioner's original sentencing hearing that Petitioner had received convictions for most, if not all, of the offenses listed. Specifically, at Petitioner's first sentencing hearing,

- 12 -

the trial court listed in detail Petitioner's prior record and Petitioner's disposition as to those offenses. (SR pp. 139, 141). V, pp. 139-141, Blackshear v. State, case no. BD-393). Only one offense was noted by the judge as not showing any disposition on Petitioner's prior record. Id. at 140. Thus, it is the State's position that the court's statement in the original sentencing transcript clearly indicates that the "arrests" to which the court referred in its departure order were in actuality convictions. It is also clear that some of the information received regarding this violent behavior resulted in the juvenile commitment to Marianna mentioned by the mother (T p. 12), the commitment to North Florida Hospital at McClenny, referred to by Dr. Miller when he discussed the prior sexual assault occurring at school and the Appellant's psycho-sexual disorder (SR pp. 90, 91, 94).

Given that the original record supports the conclusion that the trial court's reference to Petitioner's prior record was intended to be a reference to his prior convictions, the Petitioner's reliance upon Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(11) and his cited case law is misplaced.

Accordingly, a trial court may properly consider the nature of a defendant's offense(s) in departing from a recommended guidelines sentence, and, indeed, the Sentencing Guidelines themselves clearly allow such a consideration.

- 13 -

Specifically, the Committee Note to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(ll) provides in part:

court is prohibited from The conwhich sidering offenses for the offender has not been convicted. Other factors, consistent and not in conflict with the Statement of Purpose, may be considered and utilized by the sentencing judge. (Emphasis supplied).

The Statement of purpose provides that the "sentencing guidelines embody," <u>inter alia</u>, the following principle:

> The severity of the sanctions should increase with the length and <u>nature</u> of the offender's criminal <u>history</u>. (Emphasis Supplied).

Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(b)(5). This language makes it plain that the trial court effectively complied with the purpose of the guidelines when it relied <u>upon the underlying violent nature of</u> <u>Petitioner's acts</u> for which convictions were obtained to depart. Consequently, that aspect of the court's departure order was clearly proper.

As to the violence Petitioner exhibited in committing the instant offenses, this factor, too, was an appropriate basis for departure. It is well settled that a trial court may rely upon the facts and circumstances surrounding the commission of an offense as a basis for departure. <u>Bailey v. State</u>, 11 F.L.W. 1664 (Fla. 1st DCA July 31, 1986); <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 489 So.2d 176 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Roberge v. State, 484 So.2d 82 (Fla. 2d

DCA 1986); <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 454 So.2d 714 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(b)(3), state that "[t]he penalty imposed should be commensurate with the severity of the convicted offense and the <u>circumstances surrounding the offense</u>." (Emphasis supplied.)

The trial court did not have to rely on a bare record or mere assertion from the prosecutor as to the quantum of proof available, he heard witnesses. He heard the victim describe the assault (SR pp. 108-115), he heard Dr. Miller describe the Appellant's justification: a little green man named Mark told him he could have sex with anyone he wanted without breaking the law. (SR p. 93).

The trial court considered the violence in the home, the violence underlying the convictions and commitments. The opportunity given to the Appellant by juvenile commitment and the hospitalizations to modify his behavior prior to determining the need for departure.

Under the facts and circumstances of this case, departure on the ground of the violent behavior of the Petitioner was warranted and should be affirmed. However, the trial court's departure was based on several factors. We do not know if the trial court would depart on this issue alone. Again, as stated in Appellee's Brief on Jurisdiction, this case is fraught with speculative issues which should not be resolved until ruled on by the trial court.

- 15 -

ISSUE III

EXTENT OF THE DEPARTURE WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

The Petitioner states this case is controlled by <u>Booker v.</u> <u>State</u>, 514 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 1987), and that under <u>Booker</u>, the extent of departure is reviewable. He is partially correct.

The extent of the departure issue is not properly before this Court as the Petitioner has never timely and properly raised it. Petitioner did not raise it on his first direct appeal nor did he raise it on his second direct appeal. He has, therefore, not properly preserved this issue for this Court's review.

In the event that this Court considers the issue in spite of this procedural bar, the standard of review is abuse of discretion. <u>Albritton v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1985).

This Court in <u>Canakaris v. Canakaris</u>, 382 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1980), described abuse of discretion:

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